LEASE

(MWA Middle School and Upper School)

This Lease supersedes and replaces Prior Lease Agreement by and between the Landlord and Tenant. Said Prior Lease is null and void as of the date of this Lease agreement and is replaced entirely with this Lease.

Basic Lease Information

March 1, 2024
Making Waves Foundation, Inc.
Making Waves Academy
MS-1 - 4285 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
MS-2 - 4175 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
MS-Gym - 4165 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
US-1 - 4123 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
US-2 - 4131 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
US-3 - 4145 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
US-4 - 4155 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
US-Gym – 4075 Lakeside Drive, Richmond, CA 94806
The Building and the land surrounding the Building and outlined on Exhibit A.
100% of the space within the Building
The period commencing on the Commencement Date and ending on the Expiration Date (as such terms are defined below).
July 1, 2024
June 30, 2025
\$161,073 per month
\$1,932,880 Annual
Making Waves Foundation, Inc. 3045 Research Drive Richmond, CA 94806
Public Charter School

Deposit (section 27.1):	N/A
Tenant's Address (section 30.1):	At the Premises
Landlord's Address (section 30. I):	Making Waves Foundation, Inc. 3045 Research Drive Richmond, CA 94806

The foregoing <u>Basic Lease Information</u> is incorporated in and made a part of this Lease. If there is any conflict between the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> and any other part of this Lease, the former shall control.

TENANT:	LANDLORD:
Making Waves Academy, a California Corporation	Making Waves Foundation, Inc., a California Corporation
By:	By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	Premises	1
ARTICLE 2	Term	2
ARTICLE 3	Rent	2
ARTICLE 4	Taxes	3
ARTICLE 5	Intentionally Deleted	3
ARTICLE 6	Use; Environmental Matters	3
ARTICLE 7	Services	4
ARTICLE 8	Alterations	5
ARTICLE 9	Liens	5
ARTICLE 10	Maintenance and Repairs	5
ARTICLE 11	Damage or Destruction	6
ARTICLE 12	Subrogation	7
ARTICLE 13	Indemnification and Insurance	7
ARTICLE 14	Compliance With Legal Requirements	9
ARTICLE 15	Assignment and Subletting	9
ARTICLE 16	Rules and Regulations	10
ARTICLE 17	Entry by Landlord	11
ARTICLE 18	Events of Default	11
ARTICLE 19	Remedies Upon Default	12
ARTICLE 20	Landlord's Right to Cure Defaults	13
ARTICLE 21	Eminent Domain	13
ARTICLE 22	Subordination to Mortgages	14
ARTICLE 23	Surrender of Premises; Ownership and Removal of Trade Fixtures	15
ARTICLE 24	Sale	16
ARTICLE 25	Estoppel Certificate	16
ARTICLE 26	Waiver	16
ARTICLE 27	Notices	16
ARTICLE 28	Miscellaneous	17
ARTICLE 29	Authority	18
ARTICLE 30	Complete Agreement.	18

Exhibit A - Plan Outlining the Premises

LEASE

THIS LEASE, made as of the date specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> by and between the landlord specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> ("Landlord"), and the tenant specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> ("Tenant"),

WITNESSETH: ARTICLE <u>I</u> Premises

- Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases from Landlord, subject to the 1.1 terms, covenants and conditions set forth in this Lease the (the "Premises") shown Exhibit A attached hereto and described in the Basic Lease Information, which Premises are located in the building (the "Building") described in the Basic Lease Information. The Building is part of a larger campus for Making Waves Academy consisting of the MWA Middle School and the MWA Upper School (the "Campus"). As used in this Lease, the term "Campus" shall include the parcel or parcels of land on which the MWA Middle School and the MWA Upper School is located and all appurtenances thereto. The Premises shall include the appurtenant right to the use, subject to the reasonable rules and regulations as may be promulgated by Landlord from time to time, all portions of the Campus other than the Premises. Landlord reserves the right to close, make alterations or additions to, or change the size, configuration, use and location of elements of the Building and the Campus and their respective common areas. All of the windows and outside decks or ten-aces and walls of the Premises and any space in the Premises used for shafts, stacks, pipes, conduits, ducts, electric or other utilities, sinks or other Building facilities, and the use thereof and access thereto through the Premises for the purposes of operation, maintenance and repairs, are reserved to Landlord. Tenant shall not in any event be permitted to use the roof of the Building for any purpose without first obtaining the prior consent of Landlord; provided however, that the Landlord shall permit Tenant to sublease the roof the Premises for the installation of solar panels provided that all such solar panel work is performed in accordance with Article 8 and such installation does materially adversely affect the operation of the Building or the functionality of the roof.
- 1.2 For purposes of Section 1938 of the California Civil Code, Landlord hereby discloses to Tenant, and Tenant hereby acknowledges, that the Premises have not undergone inspection by a person certified pursuant to Section 4459.2 of the California Government Code (a Certified Access Specialist). Tenant hereby waives any and all rights it otherwise might now or hereafter have under Section 1938 of the California Civil Code. Landlord and Tenant expressly agree that there are and shall be no implied warranties of merchantability, habitability, fitness for a particular purpose, or any other kind arising out of this Lease and there are and shall be no warranties that extend beyond the warranties, if any, expressly set forth in this Lease.
- 1.3 Tenant shall use such parking spaces solely for parking automobiles of Tenant's officers, students, families, visitors and employees. Tenant shall comply with all Rules and Regulations and all laws now or hereafter in effect relating to the use of parking spaces. Without limiting the foregoing, in no event shall this Lease be void or voidable, nor shall Landlord be liable to Tenant for any loss or damage, nor shall there be any abatement of rent hereunder, by reason of any reduction in Tenant's parking rights hereunder by reason of strikes, lock-outs, labor disputes, shortages of material or labor, fire, flood or other casualty, acts of God or any other cause beyond the control of Landlord.

Tenant acknowledges that Landlord may be required to disclose certain information concerning the energy performance of the Building pursuant to California Public Resources Code Section 25402.10 and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto (collectively the "Energy Disclosure Requirements"). Tenant acknowledges prior receipt of the Data Verification Checklist, as defined in the Energy Disclosure Requirements, and agrees that Landlord has timely complied in full with Landlord's obligations under the Energy Disclosure Requirements. Tenant acknowledges and agrees that (i) Landlord makes no representation or warranty regarding the energy performance of the Building or the accuracy or completeness of the Data Verification Checklist, (ii) the Data Verification Checklist is for the current occupancy and use of the Building and that the energy performance of the Building may vary depending on future occupancy and/or use of the Building, and (iii) Landlord shall have no liability to Tenant for any errors or omissions in the Data Verification Checklist. If and to the extent not prohibited by applicable Jaw, Tenant hereby waives any right it may have to receive the Data Verification Checklist, including, without limitation, any right Tenant may have to terminate this Lease as a result of Landlord's failure to disclose such information. Further, Tenant hereby releases Landlord from any liability Landlord may have to Tenant relating to the Energy Data Verification Checklist, including, without limitation, any liability arising as a result of Landlord's failure to disclose any matter requiring disclosure under the Energy Disclosure Requirements to Tenant prior to the execution of this Lease. Tenant's acceptance of the Premises pursuant to the terms of this Lease shall be deemed to include Tenant's approval of the energy performance of the Building and the Data Verification Checklist.

ARTICLE 2

2.1 The terms and provisions of this Lease shall be effective as of the date of this Lease. The term of this Lease shall be the term specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> (the "Lease Term"), which shall commence on the commencement date specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> (the "Commencement Date") and, unless extended or sooner terminated as hereinafter provided, shall end on the expiration date specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> (the "Expiration Date").

ARTICLE 3

- 3.1 Tenant shall pay to Landlord the following amounts as rent for the Premises:
- (a) Commencing on the Rent Commencement Date and continuing thereafter during the Lease Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as monthly rent, the base rent specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u> (the "Base Rent").
- (b) Throughout the Lease Term, Tenant shall pay, as additional rent, all other amounts of money and charges required to be paid by Tenant under this Lease, whether or not such amounts of money and charges are otherwise designated "additional rent." As used in this Lease, "rent" shall mean and include all Base Rent, all additional rent and all other amounts payable by Tenant in accordance with this Lease.
- 3.2 Tenant shall pay all monthly rent to Landlord, in advance, on or before the first day of each and every calendar month during the Lease Term, without notice, demand, deduction or offset, in lawful money of the United States of America. Landlord instructs Tenant to pay all such monthly rent to the address specified therefor in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u>, or to such other person or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing. Landlord shall have the right to apply

payments received from Tenant pursuant to this Lease, regardless of Tenant's designation of such payments, to satisfy any obligations of Tenant hereunder, in such order and amounts as Landlord may elect.

ARTICLE 4 Taxes

- 4.1 Landlord shall pay, prior to delinquency, all general real estate taxes and installments of special assessments coming due during the Lease Term on the Premises, if any, and all personal property taxes with respect to Landlord's personal property, if any, on the Premises.
- 4.2 Tenant shall be responsible for paying all personal property taxes with respect to Tenant's personal property at the Premises.

ARTICLE 5 Intentionally Deleted

ARTICLE 6 Use; Environmental Matters

- Tenant shall use the Premises only for the purposes described in the Basic Lease Information 6.1 for Tenant's business and no other purpose whatsoever without the prior written consent of Landlord, which may be withheld in Landlord's sole discretion. Tenant at all times shall conduct its business in the Premises in a first class and reputable manner and shall be responsible for causing the conduct of Tenant's employees, faculty and students in the Building and around the Campus at all times to comply with the same. Tenant shall not do or permit to be done in, on or about the Premises, nor bring or keep or permit to be brought or kept therein, anything which is prohibited by or will in any way conflict with any law, ordinance, rule, regulation or order now in force or which may hereafter be enacted, or which is prohibited by any property insurance policy carried by Landlord for the Campus, or will in any way increase the existing rate of, or cause a cancellation of, or affect any property or other insurance for the Campus or any part thereof or any of its contents. Tenant shall not do or permit anything to be done in, on or about the Premises which will in any way obstruct or interfere with the rights of Landlord. Tenant shall not use or allow the Premises to be used for any improper, immoral, unlawful or objectionable activity, nor shall Tenant cause, maintain or permit any nuisance in, on or about the Premises or commit or suffer to be committed any waste in, on or about the Premises. Tenant shall not bring into the Building any furniture, equipment, materials or other objects which overload the Building or any portion thereof. Subject to any temporary shutdown for repairs, for security purposes, for compliance with any legal restrictions, or due to force majeure, Tenant shall have access to the Premises twenty-four (24) hours a day, each day of the Lease Term. Without limiting any other provision of this Article 6 or this Lease, if Landlord determines, in its sole judgment, that Tenant's operations are causing wear and tear or damage to the wall coverings or finishes in the corridors or other areas of the Premises or the Building, Landlord may elect to repair such wear and tear or damage at Tenant's sole expense, which shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord upon demand.
- 6.2 Tenant shall not bring or keep, or permit to be brought or kept, in the Premises or the Campus any "hazardous substance" (as hereinafter defined). Tenant shall not use, produce, process, manufacture, generate, treat, handle, store or dispose of any hazardous substance in the Premises or the Campus, or use the Premises for any such purpose, or emit, release or discharge any hazardous substance into any air, soil, surface water or groundwater comprising the Premises or the Campus, or permit any person using or occupying the Premises to do any of the foregoing. The preceding sentence shall not prohibit the ordinary use of any hazardous substance normally used in the operation of a general office for

Tenant's business as permitted by this Lease, provided the amount of any such hazardous substance does not exceed the quantity necessary for the normal operation of a general office in the ordinary course of business and the use, storage and disposal of any such hazardous substance strictly comply with all applicable "environmental laws" (as hereinafter defined). Tenant shall comply, and shall cause all persons using or occupying the Premises to comply, with all environmental laws applicable to the use or occupancy of the Premises by Tenant or any operation or activity of Tenant therein.

- 6.3 Tenant shall indemnify and defend Landlord against and hold Landlord harmless from all claims, demands, actions, judgments, liabilities, costs, expenses, losses, damages, penalties, fines and obligations of any nature (including reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements incurred in the investigation, defense or settlement of claims) that Landlord may incur as a result of, or in connection with, claims arising from the presence, use, storage, transportation, treatment, disposal, release or other handling, on or about or beneath the Premises, of any hazardous substances introduced or permitted on or about or beneath the Premises by any act or omission of Tenant or its agents, officers, employees, contractors, invitees or licensees. The liability of Tenant under this section 6.3 shall survive the termination of this Lease with respect to acts or omissions that occur before such termination.
- 6.4 As used in this Lease, "hazardous substance" shall mean any substance or material that is described as a toxic or hazardous substance, waste or material or a pollutant or contaminant, or words of similar import, in any of the environmental laws, and includes asbestos, petroleum, petroleum products, polychlorinated biphenyls, radon gas, radioactive matter, and chemicals which may cause cancer or reproductive toxicity. As used in this Lease, "environmental laws" shall mean all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, rules and regulations now or hereafter in force, as amended from time to time, in any way relating to or regulating human health or safety, or industrial hygiene or environmental conditions, or protection of the environment, or pollution or contamination of the air, soil, surface water or groundwater.

ARTICLE 7 Services and Utilities

- 7.1 Landlord shall maintain the parking lots, roofs, elevators, landscaping including all outdoor play facilities, the structural components of the Premises and the Campus, the plumbing system, photovoltaic system, EV chargers, water storage tank drainage system, utility lines and connections and other utility fixtures and equipment serving the Premises, and the mechanical, electrical, plumbing and other building systems of the Premises (including Fire-Life, Safety system, the heat, air conditioning and ventilation systems of the Premises) at its cost and expense in good condition and repair. Any damage to the Premises or the Campus caused by Tenant or any agent, employee, contractor, licensee, invitee or student of Tenant shall cause Tenant to seek in good faith, reasonable reimbursement from the responsible party upon which reimbursement shall be provided to Landlord.
- 7.2 Tenant shall be responsible for (i) arranging for the appropriate utility services to the Building and the MWA Upper School, (ii) appropriate janitorial services for the Premises and the common areas,
- 7.3 Commencing on the Commencement Date and continuing thereafter during the Lease Term, Tenant shall be directly responsible for contracting for all utility services for the Building and the MWA Upper School (including, without limitation, electricity, gas, water and sewer and utilities serving the parking areas and the common areas) in Tenant's name and paying for such services directly to the applicable utility providers. Tenant shall pay for any and all such services in a timely manner and prior to delinquency.
- 7.4 In the event of an interruption in, or failure or inability to provide any service or utility for the Premises for any reason, such interruption, failure or inability shall not constitute an eviction of

Tenant, constructive or otherwise, or impose upon Landlord any liability whatsoever, including, but not limited to, liability for consequential damages or loss of business by Tenant. Tenant hereby waives the provisions of California Civil Code Section 1932(1) or any other applicable existing or future laws permitting the termination of this Lease due to such interruption, failure or inability.

ARTICLE 8 Alterations

- 8.1 Tenant shall not make any alterations, additions, modifications or improvements in or to the Premises or any part thereof, or attach any fixtures or equipment thereto (collectively, "Alterations"), without Landlord's prior written consent.
- 8.2 All Alterations, including, without limitation, carpeting and all other improvements whether temporary or permanent in character, made in or to the Premises either by Tenant or by Landlord shall become part of the Building and Landlord's property. At Landlord's sole election any or all Alterations made for or by Tenant shall be removed by Tenant from the Premises at the expiration or sooner termination of this Lease and the Premises shall be restored by Tenant to their condition prior to the making of the Alterations, ordinary wear and tear excepted. The removal of the Alterations and the restoration of the Premises shall be performed by a general contractor selected by Tenant and approved by Landlord, in which event Tenant shall pay the general contractor's fees and costs in connection with such work. Movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures and personal property (except partitions) shall remain the property of Tenant and Tenant shall, at Tenant's expense, remove all such property from the Building at the end of the Lease Term. Termination of this Lease shall not affect the obligations of Tenant pursuant to this section 8.2 to be performed after such termination.

ARTICLE 9 Liens

9.1 Tenant shall keep the Premises and the Building free from mechanics', materialmen's and all other liens arising out of any work performed, materials furnished or obligations incurred by Tenant. Tenant shall promptly and fully pay and discharge all claims on which any such lien could be based. Tenant shall have the right to contest the amount or validity of any such lien, provided Tenant gives prior written notice of such contest to Landlord, prosecutes such contest by appropriate proceedings in good faith and with diligence, and, upon request by Landlord, furnishes such bond as may be required by law to protect the Building and the Premises from such lien. Landlord shall have the right to post and keep posted on the Premises any notices that may be provided by law or which Landlord may deem to be proper for the protection of Landlord, the Premises and the Building from such liens, and to take any other action Landlord deems necessary to remove or discharge liens or encumbrances at the expense of Tenant.

ARTICLE 10 Maintenance and Repairs

10.1 Landlord shall, at all times during the Lease Term and at Landlord's sole cost and expense, maintain and repair the Premises, the Building and the MWA Upper School and Middle School and every part thereof including the cosmetic maintenance of the Premises including but not limited to graffiti removal, maintenance painting (as distinguished from periodic repainting of the buildings of the Premises), and similar routine maintenance and repair of normal wear and tear. Landlord shall repair and maintain any equipment used in connection with the Premises and the MWA Middle and Upper Schools and installed specifically for Tenant and all equipment, fixtures and improvements therein and keep all of the foregoing clean and in good order and operating condition, ordinary wear and tear and damage thereto by fire or other casualty excepted.

Tenant hereby waives all rights under California Civil Code section 1941 and all rights to make repairs at the expense of Landlord or in lieu thereof to vacate the Premises as provided by California Civil Code section 1942 or any other law, statute or ordinance now or hereafter in effect.

ARTICLE 11 Damage or Destruction

- If the Building or the Premises, or any part thereof, is damaged by fire or other casualty before the Commencement Date or during the Lease Term, and this Lease is not terminated pursuant to sections 11.2 or 11.3 hereof, Landlord shall repair such damage and restore the Building and the Premises to substantially the same condition in which the Building and the Premises existed before the occurrence of such fire or other casualty (provided that Landlord shall have no obligation to restore any above-Building standard improvements or Alterations in the Premises, unless the cost thereof is paid by Tenant in advance of such restoration, or any Alterations made by or for Tenant in the Premises following the Commencement Date) and this Lease shall, subject to the provisions of this Article 11, remain in full force and effect. If such fire or other casualty damages the Premises or common areas of the Building necessary for Tenant's use and occupancy of the Premises and Tenant ceases to use any portion of the Premises as a result thereof, then during the period the Premises are rendered untenantable by such damage Tenant shall be entitled to a reduction in monthly rent in the proportion that the area of the Premises rendered unusable by such damage bears to the total area of the Premises. Landlord shall not be obligated to repair any damage to, or to make any replacement of, any movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures or personal property in the Premises or Alterations made by or for Tenant in the Premises following the Commencement Date. Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, repair and replace all such movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures, personal property and any Alterations made by or for Tenant in the Premises following the Commencement Date. Such repair and replacement by Tenant shall be done in accordance with Article 8 hereof. Tenant hereby waives California Civil Code sections 1932(2) and 1933(4), or any successor statute, providing for termination of hiring upon destruction of the thing hired.
- 11.2 If the Building or the Premises, or any part thereof, is damaged by fire or other casualty before the Commencement Date or during the Lease Term and (a) such fire or other casualty occurs during the last twelve (12) months of the Lease Term and the repair and restoration work to be performed by Landlord in accordance with section 11.1 hereof cannot, as reasonably estimated by Landlord, be completed within two (2) months after the occurrence of such fire or other casualty, or (b) the insurance proceeds received by Landlord in respect of such damage are not adequate to pay the entire cost, as reasonably estimated by Landlord, of the repair and restoration work to be performed by Landlord in accordance with section 11.1 hereof, or (c) the repair and restoration work to be performed by Landlord in accordance with section I I.I hereof cannot, as reasonably estimated by Landlord, be completed within six (6) months after the occurrence of such fire or other casualty, then, in any such event, Landlord shall have the right, by giving written notice to Tenant within sixty (60) days after the occurrence of such fire or other casualty, to terminate this Lease as of the date specified in such notice, which date shall be not less than thirty (30) days nor more than sixty (60) days after the date such notice is given.
- 11.3 A total destruction of the Building shall automatically terminate this Lease effective as of the date of such total destruction.

ARTICLE 12 Subrogation

12.1 Tenant waives on behalf of its insurers under all policies of property, liability and other insurance carried by Tenant during the Lease Term insuring or covering the Premises, or any portion or any contents thereof, or any operations therein, all rights of subrogation which any insurer might otherwise, if at all, have to any claims of Tenant against Landlord. Landlord waives on behalf of its insurers under all policies of property, liability and other insurance carried by Landlord during the Lease Term insuring or covering the Building or any portion or any contents thereof, or any operations therein, all rights of subrogation which any insurer might otherwise, if at all, have to any claims of Landlord against Tenant. Tenant shall, prior to or immediately after the date of this Lease, procure from each of the insurers under all such policies of property, liability and other insurance insuring or covering the Premises, or any portion or any contents thereof, or any operations therein, a waiver of all rights of subrogation which the insurer might otherwise, if at all, have to any claims of Tenant against Landlord as required by this Article I 2.

ARTICLE 13 Indemnification and Insurance

- 13.1 Tenant hereby waives all claims against Landlord, Landlord's members, partners, shareholders, trustees, and beneficiaries, the Building's property manager, and Landlord's asset manager, and their respective officers, directors, agents, servants, employees and independent contractors (collectively, the "Landlord Parties"), for damage to or loss or theft of any property or for any bodily or personal injury, illness or death of any person in, on or about the Premises or the Campus arising at any time and from any cause whatsoever other than solely by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord. Tenant further assumes all risk of, and agrees that Landlord and the Landlord Parties shall not be liable for, any and all loss, cost, damage, expense and liability (including without limitation court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees) sustained as a result of the Premises not having been inspected by a Certified Access Specialist (CASp). Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Landlord Parties from and against all claims, demands, liabilities, damages, losses, costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred in connection with or arising from
- (a) any cause whatsoever in, on or about the Premises or any part thereof arising at any time other than solely by reason of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Landlord, or (b) any act or omission of Tenant or its agents, employees, contractors, invitees or licensees in, on or about any part of the Campus other than the Premises (including, without limitation, any damage, bodily or personal injury, illness or death which is caused in part by Landlord), or (c) any breach by Tenant of the terms of this Lease. This Article I 3 shall survive the termination of this Lease with respect to any damage, bodily or personal injury, illness or death occurring prior to such termination.
- 13.2 Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, obtain and keep in force during the term of this Lease the following insurance:
- (a) Workers' compensation and employers' liability insurance policies with a minimum limit of \$1,000,000. The policies shall contain a Waiver of Subrogation endorsement in favor of the Landlord Parties.
- (b) Automobile liability insurance policy, including owned, non-owned and hired automobiles, with a combined single limit of \$2,000,000 for bodily injury and property damage or equivalent approved by Landlord.

- (c) An occurrence form commercial general liability insurance policy with coverage with limits of not less than \$2,000,000 combined single limit, each occurrence and aggregate, and will not provide for a self-insured retention or deductible in excess of \$50,000. Such insurance shall include Legal Liability limits of \$1,000,000 per occurrence, and \$2,000,000 products/completed operations coverage and such insurance shall be primary insurance as respects any claims, losses or liability arising directly or indirectly from the Tenant's operations and/or occupancy, and any other insurance maintained by Landlord shall be excess and not contributory with the insurance required hereunder. Said insurance policies shall include an endorsement, providing that the Landlord Parties and their officers and employees are additional insureds. Policy shall include coverage for Sexual Abuse or Molestation.
- (d) Umbrella liability insurance policy with a limit of not less than \$5,000,000 or such higher limit as may be required by Landlord. The policy shall provide excess coverage over Tenant's Employers' Liability, Automobile Liability and Commercial General Liability including Sexual Abuse or Molestation coverage.
- (e) Insurance policy for full replacement cost of Tenant's movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures and personal property in the Premises, with special form cause of loss (excluding earthquake and flood) with agreed value endorsement. All amounts received by Tenant under the insurance specified in this section 13.2 shall first be applied to the payment of the cost of the repair and replacement Tenant is obligated to do under Article 11 hereof.
- 13.3 Landlord reserves the right to increase the amounts of coverage specified in section 13.2 above from time to time as Landlord determines is required to adequately protect Landlord and the other parties designated by Landlord from the matters insured thereby (provided, however, that Landlord makes no representation that the limits of liability required hereunder from time to time shall be adequate to protect Tenant). In addition, Landlord reserves the right to require that Tenant cause any of its contractors, vendors, movers or other parties conducting activities in or about or occupying the Premises to obtain and maintain insurance as determined by Landlord (which insurance coverages may be greater than those set forth in section 13.2 above and which may include types of insurance not specified above with respect to Tenant) and as to which Landlord and such other parties designated by Landlord shall be additional insureds.
- All insurance required under this Article 13 and all renewals thereof shall be issued by good 13.4 and responsible companies rated not less than A-:VIII in Best's Insurance Guide and qualified to do and doing business in the State in which the Building is located. Each policy, other than Tenant's workers' compensation insurance, shall: (a) provide that the policy shall not be canceled or altered without thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Landlord and shall remain in effect notwithstanding any such cancellation or alteration until such notice shall have been given to Landlord and such period of thirty (30) days shall have expired; (b) protect Tenant, as named insured, and Landlord and all the other Landlord Parties and any other parties designated by Landlord, as additional insureds, using such ISO or other form of endorsement as directed in writing by Landlord; (c) shall insure Landlord's and such other parties' contingent liability with regard to acts or omissions of Tenant; (d) include all waiver of subrogation rights endorsements necessary to effect the provisions of Article 12 above; (e) provide that the policy and the coverage provided shall be primary, that Landlord, although an additional insured, shall nevertheless be entitled to recovery under such policy for any damage to Landlord or the other Landlord Parties by reason of acts or omissions of Tenant, and that any coverage carried by Landlord shall be noncontributory with respect to policies carried by Tenant; (f) specifically include all liability assumed by Tenant under this Lease {provided, however, that such contractual liability coverage shall not limit or be deemed to satisfy Tenant's indemnity obligations under this Lease); and (g) if subject to deductibles, shall provide for deductible amounts not in excess of those approved in advance in writing by Landlord in its sole discretion. Tenant shall deliver certificates of insurance, acceptable to Landlord, to Landlord at least ten (10) days before the Commencement Date and at least ten (10) days before expiration of each policy.

-8-

In addition, upon the issuance thereof, Tenant shall deliver each such policy or a certified copy thereof to Landlord for retention by Landlord. If Tenant fails to insure or fails to furnish to Landlord upon notice to do so any such policy or certified copy and certificate thereof as required, Landlord shall have the right from time to time to effect such insurance for the benefit of Tenant or Landlord or both of them and all premiums paid by Landlord shall be payable by Tenant as additional rent on demand.

13.5 During the term hereof, Landlord shall keep the Building (but excluding any personal property, fixtures, office equipment, furniture, artwork and other decoration not affixed to and a part of the Building) insured through reputable insurance underwriters against perils covered by a standard special form insurance policy or policies as such policies are in use as of the date of this Lease (excluding perils such as earthquake, flood and other standard special form policy form exclusions), if such a policy is reasonably available, with a deductible provision, if any, as determined by Landlord in an amount or amounts equal to not less than one hundred percent (100%) of the full replacement value of the Building (excluding the land and the footings, foundations and installations below the basement level). During the term hereof, Landlord shall keep in force general liability insurance in the amount and coverage as Landlord deems commercially reasonable.

ARTICLE 14 Compliance With Legal Requirements

14.1 Tenant shall, at its sole cost and expense, promptly comply with all laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, orders and other requirements of any government or public authority now in force or which may hereafter be in force, with the requirements of any board of fire underwriters or other similar body now or hereafter constituted, and with any direction or certificate of occupancy issued pursuant to any law by any governmental agency or officer, insofar as any thereof relate to or affect the condition, use or occupancy of the Premises and the MWA Upper School or the operation, use or maintenance of any equipment, fixtures or improvements in the Premises (collectively, "Applicable Laws"), excluding requirements of structural changes not related to or affected by Tenant's acts or use of the Premises or by Alterations made by or for Tenant. In the event that any structural changes are required to be performed to the Building to comply with Applicable Laws (and such changes are not related to or affected by Tenant's acts or use of the Premises or by Alterations made by or for Tenant), then Landlord shall perform such compliance work at Landlord's expense. If any governmental license or permit shall be required for the proper and lawful conduct of any business or other activity carried on by Tenant in the Premises, or if Tenant's failure to secure such license or permit would adversely affect Landlord, Tenant shall duly procure and thereafter maintain such license or permit.

ARTICLE 15 Assignment and Subletting

15.1 Tenant shall not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, assign this Lease or any interest herein or sublease the Premises or any part thereof, or permit the use or occupancy of the Premises by any person other than Tenant. Tenant shall not, directly or indirectly, without the prior written consent of Landlord, pledge, mortgage or hypothecate this Lease or any interest herein. This Lease shall not, nor shall any interest herein, be assignable as to the interest of Tenant involuntarily or by operation of law without the prior written consent of Landlord. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant is expressly prohibited from allowing outside groups and organizations to utilize the Premises or any portion of the Building (whether on a temporary or a permanent basis) unless said outside groups or organizations (i) are non-profit and focused on education and/or underserved populations in the local area, (ii) any outside users of the Premises obtain event insurance in amounts commensurate with the risk of the use, as determined by Landlord in its sole discretion, (iii) any outside user provides security at a level determined

by Landlord, (iv) any outside user expressly agrees to clean up and restore the Premises following its use and (v) Tenant obtains Landlord's written consent to such outsider user's use of the Premises or the Building.

- No assignment, sublease, pledge, mortgage, hypothecation or other transfer, nor any consent by Landlord to any of the foregoing, shall release Tenant from any of Tenant's obligations and liabilities under this Lease or alter the primary liability of Tenant to pay rent and to perform all other obligations to be performed by Tenant hereunder (and Landlord may proceed directly against Tenant without the necessity of exhausting any remedies against such assignee, subtenant or successor), or shall be deemed to be a consent to any subsequent pledge, mortgage, hypothecation, assignment, sublease, or occupation or use by another person. Tenant hereby acknowledges and agrees, and any instrument by which an assignment or sublease is accomplished shall expressly provide: (a) that the assignee or subtenant will perform and observe all the agreements, covenants and conditions to be performed and observed by Tenant under this Lease as and when performance and observance is due after the effective date of the assignment or sublease, (b) that Landlord will have the right to enforce such agreements, covenants and conditions directly against such assignee or subtenant, (c) in the case of a sublease, the subtenant shall, at Landlord's election, attorn directly to Landlord in the event that this Lease is terminated for any reason, (d) in the case of an assignment, the assignee assumes all of Tenant's obligations under this Lease arising on or after the date of the assignment, and (e) in the case of a sublease, the subtenant agrees to be and remain jointly and severally liable with Tenant for the payment of rent pertaining to the sublet space in the amount set forth in the sublease, and for the performance of all of the terms and provisions of this Lease. Any assignment or sublease without an instrument containing the foregoing provisions shall be void and shall, at the option of Landlord, constitute a default under this Lease. No assignment or sublease shall be valid and no assignee or subtenant shall take possession of the Premises or any part thereof until an executed duplicate original of such assignment or sublease (and any standard form of consent document required by Landlord) has been delivered to Landlord, together with the written consent to such assignment or sublease of any guarantor of Tenant's obligations hereunder, if any, and certificates evidencing that such subtenant or assignee is carrying all insurance coverage required under this Lease has been provided to Landlord.
- 15.3 Any sublease hereunder shall be subordinate and subject to the provisions of this Lease, and if this Lease shall be terminated during the term of any sublease, Landlord shall have the right to: (a) treat such sublease as canceled and repossess the entire Premises by any lawful means, or (b) require that such subtenant attom to and recognize Landlord as its landlord under any such sublease. If Tenant shall be in default under this Lease, Landlord is hereby irrevocably authorized, as Tenant's agent and attorney-in-fact, to direct any subtenant to make all payments under or in connection with a sublease directly to Landlord (which Landlord shall apply towards Tenant's obligations under this Lease) until such default is cured. Such subtenant shall rely on any representation by Landlord that Tenant is in default hereunder, without any need for confirmation thereof by Tenant.

ARTICLE 16 Rules and Regulations

16.1 Tenant shall faithfully observe and comply with the rules and regulations (the "Rules and Regulations") from time to time made in writing by Landlord. If there is any conflict, this Lease shall prevail over the Rules and Regulations and any modifications thereof or additions thereto.

ARTICLE 17 Entry by Landlord

Landlord shall have the right to enter the Premises at any time to (a) inspect the Premises, (b) exhibit the Premises to prospective purchasers, lenders or tenants, (c) determine whether Tenant is performing all of its obligations hereunder, (d) supply any service to be provided by Landlord, (e) post notices of non-responsibility, and (f) make any repairs to the Premises, or make any repairs to any adjoining space or utility services, or make any repairs, alterations or improvements to any other portion of the Building, provided all such work shall be done as promptly as reasonably practicable and so as to cause as little interference to Tenant as reasonably practicable. Tenant waives all claims for damages for any injury or inconvenience to or interference with Tenant's business, any loss of occupancy or quiet enjoyment of the Premises or any other loss occasioned by such entry. Landlord shall at all times have and retain a key with which to unlock all of the doors in, on or about the Premises (excluding Tenant's vaults, safes and similar areas designated in writing by Tenant and approved in writing by Landlord in advance), and Landlord shall have the right to use any and all means which Landlord may deem proper to open such doors in an emergency to obtain entry to the Premises. Any entry to the Premises obtained by Landlord by any of such means, or otherwise, shall not under any circumstances be construed or deemed to be a forcible or unlawful entry into or a detainer of the Premises or an eviction, actual or constructive, of Tenant from the Premises or any portion thereof.

ARTICLE 18 Events of Default

- 18.1 The occurrence of any one or more of the following events ("Event of Default") shall constitute a breach of this Lease by Tenant:
- (a) Tenant fails to pay any monthly rent as and when such monthly rent becomes due and payable and such failure continues for more than three (3) days; or
- (b) Tenant fails to pay any additional rent or other amount of money or charge payable by Tenant hereunder as and when such additional rent or amount or charge becomes due and payable and such failure continues for more than ten (10) days after Landlord gives written notice thereof to Tenant; provided, however, that after the second such failure in a calendar year, only the passage of time, but no further notice, shall be required to establish an Event of Default in the same calendar year; or
- (c) Tenant fails to perform or observe any agreement, covenant or condition according to the provisions of Articles 6, 9, 15, 22 or 25 of this Lease as and when performance or observance is due and such failure continues for more than two (2) business days after Landlord gives written notice thereof to Tenant; or
- (d) Tenant fails to perform or observe any other agreement, covenant or condition of this Lease to be performed or observed by Tenant as and when performance or observance is due and such failure continues for more than ten (10) days after Landlord gives written notice thereof to Tenant; provided, however, that if, by the nature of such agreement, covenant or condition, such failure cannot reasonably be cured within such period of ten (I 0) days, an Event of Default shall not exist as long as Tenant commences with due diligence and dispatch the curing of such failure within such period of ten
- (10) days and, having so commenced, thereafter prosecutes with diligence and dispatch and completes the curing of such failure within a reasonable time; or
- (e) Tenant (i) is generally not paying its debts as they become due, (ii) files, or consents by answer or otherwise to the filing against it, a petition for relief or reorganization or

arrangement or any other petition in bankruptcy or liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (iv) consents to the appointment of a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers of Tenant or of any substantial part of Tenant's property, or (v) takes action for the purpose of any of the foregoing; or

- (f) A court or governmental authority of competent jurisdiction enters an order appointing, without consent by Tenant, a custodian, receiver, trustee or other officer with similar powers with respect to Tenant or with respect to any substantial part of Tenant's property, or constituting an order for relief or approving a petition for relief or reorganization or any other petition in bankruptcy or for liquidation or to take advantage of any bankruptcy or insolvency law of any jurisdiction, or ordering the dissolution, winding-up or liquidation of Tenant, or if any such petition is filed against Tenant and such petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days; or
- (g) This Lease or any estate of Tenant hereunder is levied upon under any attachment or execution and such attachment or execution is not vacated within thirty (30) days; or
 - (h) Tenant abandons the Premises.

ARTICLE 19 Remedies Upon Default

- 19.1 Landlord shall have the remedy described in California Civil Code section 1951.2. If an Event of Default occurs, Landlord at any time thereafter shall have the right to give a written termination notice to Tenant (which may be included in a single notice given by Landlord under section 18.1 hereof) and on the date specified in such notice, Tenant's right to possession shall terminate and this Lease shall terminate. Upon such termination, Landlord shall have the right to recover from Tenant:
- (a) The worth at the time of award of all unpaid rent which had been earned at the time of termination;
- (b) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which all unpaid rent which would have been earned after termination until the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could have been reasonably avoided;
- (c) The worth at the time of award of the amount by which all unpaid rent for the balance of the Lease Term after the time of award exceeds the amount of such rental loss that Tenant proves could be reasonably avoided; and
- (d) All other amounts necessary to compensate Landlord for all the detriment proximately caused by Tenant's failure to perform its obligations under this Lease or which in the ordinary course of things would be likely to result therefrom.

The "worth at the time of award" of the amounts referred io in clauses (a) and (b) above shall be computed by allowing interest at the Interest Rate (as defined in section 31.2 below). The "worth at the time of award" of the amount referred to in clause (c) above shall be computed by discounting such amount at the discount rate of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco at the time of award plus one percent (1%). For the purpose of determining unpaid rent under clauses (a), (b) and (c) above, the rent reserved in this Lease shall be deemed to be all sums of every nature required to be paid by Tenant pursuant to the terms of this Lease, whether to Landlord or to others.

- 19.2 Landlord shall have the remedy described in California Civil Code section 1951.4 (lessor may continue lease in effect after lessee's breach and abandonment and recover rent as it becomes due, if lessee has the right to sublet or assign, subject only to reasonable limitations). Accordingly, even though Tenant has breached this Lease and an Event of Default has occurred, this Lease shall continue in effect for so Jong as Landlord does not terminate Tenant's right to possession, and Landlord shall have the right to enforce all its rights and remedies under this Lease, including the right to recover all rent as it becomes due under this Lease. Acts of maintenance or preservation or efforts to relent the Premises or the appointment of a receiver upon initiative of Landlord to protect Landlord's interest under this Lease shall not constitute a termination of Tenant's right to possession unless written notice of termination is given by Landlord to Tenant.
- 19.3 The remedies provided for in this Lease are in addition to all other remedies available to Landlord at law or in equity by statute or otherwise. Tenant hereby waives, for Tenant and for all those claiming under Tenant, any and all rights now or hereafter existing to redeem by order or judgment of any court or by any legal process or writ, Tenant's right of occupancy of the Premises after any termination of this Lease.
- 19.4 If Landlord defaults under this Lease, Tenant shall give written notice to Landlord specifying such default with particularity, and Landlord shall have thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice within which to cure such default; provided, however, that if such default cannot reasonably be cured within such period of thirty (30) days, a default by Landlord shall not exist as long as Landlord commences with due diligence and dispatch the curing of such default within such period of thirty (30) days and, having so commenced, thereafter prosecutes with diligence and dispatch and completes the curing of such default within a reasonable time. In the event of any default by Landlord, Tenant's exclusive remedy shall be an action for damages. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Lease, neither Landlord nor any of the other Landlord Parties shall have any personal liability under this Lease. In the event of any default by Landlord under this Lease, Tenant agrees to look solely to the equity or interest then owned by Landlord in the Building, and in no event shall any deficiency judgment or personal money judgment of any kind be sought or obtained against Landlord or any of the other Landlord Parties.

ARTICLE 20 Landlord's Right to Cure Defaults

20.1 All agreements to be performed by Tenant under this Lease shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense and without any abatement of rent. If Tenant fails to pay any sum of money required to be paid by Tenant hereunder or fails to perform any other act on Tenant's part to be performed hereunder, Landlord shall have the right, without waiving or releasing Tenant from any obligations of Tenant, but shall not be obligated, to make any such payment or to perform any such other act on behalf of Tenant in accordance with this Lease. All sums so paid by Landlord and all necessary incidental costs shall be deemed additional rent hereunder and shall be payable by Tenant to Landlord on demand, together with interest on all such sums from the date of expenditure by Landlord to the date of repayment by Tenant at the Interest Rate. Landlord shall have, in addition to all other rights and remedies of Landlord, the same rights and remedies in the event of the nonpayment of such sums plus interest by Tenant as in the case of default by Tenant in the payment of rent.

ARTICLE 21 Eminent Domain

21.1 If a material part of the Premises is taken for a period in excess of one hundred eighty (180) days by exercise of the power of eminent domain before the Commencement Date or during the

Lease Term, Landlord and Tenant each shall have the right, by giving written notice to the other within thirty (30) days after the date of such taking, to terminate this Lease. If either Landlord or Tenant exercises such right to terminate this Lease in accordance with this section 21.1, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such taking. If neither Landlord nor Tenant exercises such right to terminate this Lease in accordance with this section 21.1, or if less than a material part of the Premises is so taken, this Lease shall terminate as to the portion of the Premises so taken as of the date of such taking and shall remain in full force and effect as to the portion of the Premises not so taken, and the Base Rent and amounts payable under sections 3.1(b) and 3.1(c) hereof shall be reduced as of the date of such taking in the proportion that the usable area of the Premises so taken bears to the total usable area of the Premises. If all of the Premises is taken by exercise of the power of eminent domain before the Commencement Date or during the Lease Term, this Lease shall terminate as of the date of such taking.

- 21.2 If all or any part of the Premises is taken by exercise of the power of eminent domain, all awards, compensation, damages, income, rent and interest payable in connection with such taking shall, except as expressly set forth in this section 21.2, be paid to and become the property of Landlord, and Tenant hereby assigns to Landlord all of the foregoing. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Tenant shall have no claim against Landlord or the entity exercising the power of eminent domain for the value of the leasehold estate created by this Lease or any unexpired Lease Term. Tenant shall have the right to claim and receive directly from the entity exercising the power of eminent domain only the share of any award determined to be owing to Tenant for the taking of improvements installed in the portion of the Premises so taken by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost and expense based on the unamortized cost paid by Tenant for such improvements, for the taking of Tenant's movable furniture, equipment, trade fixtures and personal property, for loss of goodwill, for interference with or interruption of Tenant's business, or for removal and relocation expenses, but only if such share does not reduce the amount otherwise payable to Landlord.
- 21.3 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 21, in the event of a temporary taking of all or any portion of the Premises for a period of one hundred and eighty (180) days or less, then this Lease shall not terminate but the Base Rent and amounts payable under sections 3.1{b} and 3.1{c} hereof shall be abated for the period of such taking in proportion to the ratio that the amount of rentable square feet of the Premises taken bears to the total rentable square feet of the Premises. Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entire award made in connection with any such temporary taking.
- 21.4 As used in this Article 21, a "taking" means the acquisition of all or part of the Premises for a public use by exercise of the power of eminent domain and the taking shall be considered to occur as of the earlier of the date on which possession of the Premises (or part so taken) by the entity exercising the power of eminent domain is authorized as stated in an order for possession or the date on which title to the Premises (or part so taken) vests in the entity exercising the power of eminent domain. Tenant hereby waives any and all rights it might otherwise have pursuant to section 1265.130 of the California Code of Civil Procedure.

ARTICLE 22 Subordination to Mortgages

22.1 This Lease shall be subject and subordinate at all times to the lien of all mortgages and deeds of trust securing any amount or amounts whatsoever which may now exist or hereafter be placed on or against the Building or on or against Landlord's interest or estate therein, all without the necessity of having further instruments executed by Tenant to effect such subordination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a foreclosure of any such mortgage or deed of trust or of any other action or proceeding for the enforcement thereof, or of any sale thereunder, this Lease shall not be terminated or extinguished, nor shall the rights and possession of Tenant hereunder be disturbed, if no Event of Default

exists under this Lease, and Tenant shall attorn to the person who acquires Landlord's interest hereunder through any such mortgage or deed of trust. Tenant agrees to execute, acknowledge and deliver upon demand such further instruments evidencing such subordination of this Lease to the lien of all such mortgages and deeds of trust as may reasonably be required by Landlord. Tenant hereby acknowledges that, after the date hereof, Landlord may obtain secured financing for the Building secured by a mortgage or deed of trust. If any lender secured or to be secured by a mortgage or deed of trust should require, as a condition to such financing, either execution by Tenant of an agreement requiring Tenant to send such lender written notice of any default by Landlord under this Lease, giving such lender the right to cure such default until such lender has completed foreclosure and preventing Tenant from terminating this Lease unless such default remains uncured after foreclosure has been completed, or any modification of the agreements, covenants or conditions of this Lease, or both of them, then Tenant agrees to execute and deliver such agreement or modification as required by such lender within ten (10) days after receipt thereof; provided, however, that no such modification shall affect the length of the Lease Term or increase the rent payable by Tenant under Article 3 hereof.

ARTICLE 23 Surrender of Premises; Ownership and Removal of Trade Fixtures

- 23.1 No act or thing done by Landlord or any agent or employee of Landlord during the Lease Term shall be deemed to constitute an acceptance by Landlord of a surrender of the Premises unless such intent is specifically acknowledged in writing by Landlord. The delivery of keys to the Premises to Landlord or any agent or employee of Landlord shall not constitute a surrender of the Premises or effect a termination of this Lease, whether or not the keys are thereafter retained by Landlord, and notwithstanding such delivery Tenant shall be entitled to the return of such keys at any reasonable time upon request until this Lease shall have been properly terminated. The voluntary or other surrender of this Lease by Tenant, whether accepted by Landlord or not, or a mutual termination hereof, shall not work a merger, and at the option of Landlord shall operate as an assignment to Landlord of all subleases or subtenancies affecting the Premises or terminate any or all such subtenants or subtenancies.
- Upon the expiration of the Lease Term, or upon any earlier termination of this Lease, 23.2 Tenant shall, subject to the provisions of this Article 23 and section 8.2 above, quit and surrender possession of the Premises to Landlord in as good order and condition as when Tenant took possession, ordinary wear and tear and damage thereto by fire or other casualty excepted. Upon such expiration or termination, Tenant shall, without expense to Landlord, remove or cause to be removed from the Premises all debris and rubbish, and such items of furniture, equipment, business and trade fixtures, free-standing cabinet work, movable partitions, voice and data cabling and other articles of personal property owned by Tenant or installed or placed by Tenant at its expense in the Premises, and such similar articles of any other persons claiming under Tenant, as Landlord may, in its sole discretion, require to be removed; provided, however, that in lieu of removing certain cabling, Tenant shall, at Landlord's request, abandon and leave in place, without additional payment to Tenant or credit against rent, any cabling (including conduit) designated by Landlord and installed in the Premises or elsewhere in the Building by or on behalf of Tenant (including all connections for such cabling), in a neat and safe condition in accordance with the requirements of all applicable Legal Requirements, including the National Electric Code or any successor statute, and terminated at both ends of a connector, properly labeled at each end and in each electrical closet and junction box. Any such property not so removed by Tenant shall be deemed to be abandoned and at the option of Landlord shall either (a) become Landlord's property without any payment to Tenant or (b) remain Tenant's property, but Landlord shall have the right to sell or otherwise dispose of such personal property in any commercially reasonable manner, provided that any proceeds realized from the sale of Tenant's property shall be applied first to offset all expenses of storage and sale, then credited against Tenant's outstanding obligations under this Lease (including, without limitation,

past due rent amounts and any termination damages owing by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to Article 19 hereof), and any remaining balance shall be returned to Tenant.

ARTICLE 24 Sale

24.1 If the original Landlord hereunder, or any successor owner of the Building, sells or conveys the Building, all liabilities and obligations on the part of the original Landlord, or such successor owner, under this Lease accruing after such sale or conveyance shall terminate and the original Landlord, or such successor owner, shall automatically be released therefrom, and thereupon all such liabilities and obligations shall be binding upon the new owner. Tenant agrees to attom to such new owner. All liabilities and obligations on the part of the original Landlord or such successor owner that accrued before the sale or conveyance shall remain the responsibility of the original Landlord or such successor owner. This Article 24 shall survive termination of the Lease.

ARTICLE 25 Estoppel Certificate

25.1 At any time and from time to time, Tenant shall, within ten (10) days after written request by Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a certificate certifying: (a) that this Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or, if there have been modifications, that this Lease is in full force and effect as modified, and stating the date and nature of each modification); (b) the Commencement Date, the Rent Commencement Date and the Expiration Date determined in accordance with Article 2 hereof and the date, if any, to which all rent and other sums payable hereunder have been paid; (c) that no notice has been received by Tenant of any default by Tenant hereunder which has not been cured, except as to defaults specified in such certificate; (d) that Landlord is not in default hereunder, except as to defaults specified in such certificate; and (e) such other matters as may be reasonably requested by Landlord or any actual or prospective purchaser or mortgage lender. Any such certificate may be relied upon by Landlord and any actual or prospective purchaser, mortgagee or beneficiary under any deed of trust of the Building or any part thereof.

ARTICLE 26 Waiver

26.1 The waiver by Landlord or Tenant of any breach of any agreement, covenant or condition in this Lease shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of the same or any other agreement, covenant or condition in this Lease, nor shall any custom or practice which may grow up between Landlord and Tenant in the administration of this Lease be construed to waive or to lessen the right of Landlord or Tenant to insist upon the performance by Landlord or Tenant in strict accordance with this Lease. The subsequent acceptance of rent hereunder by Landlord or the payment of rent by Tenant shall not waive any preceding breach by Tenant of any agreement, covenant or condition in this Lease, nor cure any Event of Default, nor waive any forfeiture of this Lease or unlawful detainer action, other than the failure of Tenant to pay the particular rent so accepted, regardless of Landlord's or Tenant's knowledge of such preceding breach at the time of acceptance or payment of such rent.

ARTICLE 27 Notices

27.1 All notices that may be given or are required to be given by either Landlord or Tenant to the other under this Lease shall be in writing and shall be either hand delivered, delivered by a nationally recognized overnight courier, or deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, certified mail with

return receipt requested, and addressed as follows: to Tenant, before the Commencement Date, at the address of Tenant specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u>, or at such other place as Tenant may from time to time designate in a notice to Landlord, and, after the Commencement Date, to Tenant at the Premises, or at such other place as Tenant may from time to time designate in a notice to Landlord; to Landlord at the address of Landlord specified in the <u>Basic Lease Information</u>, or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in a notice to Tenant. All notices shall be effective on the date of delivery. If any notice is not delivered or cannot be delivered because the receiving party changed the address of the receiving party and did not previously give notice of such change to the sending party, or due to a refusal to accept the notice by the receiving party, such notice shall be effective on the date delivery is attempted. Any notice under this Lease may be given on behalf of a party by the attorney for such party.

ARTICLE 28 Miscellaneous

- 28.1 The words "Landlord" and "Tenant" as used herein shall include the plural as well as the singular. If there is more than one Tenant, the obligations hereunder imposed upon Tenant shall be joint and several. Time is of the essence of this Lease and each and all of its provisions. Submission of this instrument for examination or signature by Tenant does not constitute a reservation of or option for lease, and it is not effective as a lease or otherwise until execution and delivery by both Landlord and Tenant. Subject to Article 15 hereof, this Lease shall benefit and bind Landlord and Tenant and the personal representatives, heirs, successors and assigns of Landlord and Tenant. Unless required by a lender pursuant to section 22.1, neither this Lease nor any memorandum, short form, affidavit or other writing with respect thereto, shall be recorded by Tenant or anyone acting through, under or on behalf of Tenant.
- . If any provision of this Lease is determined to be illegal or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect any other provision of this Lease and all such other provisions shall remain in full force and effect. This Lease shall be construed as though the covenants herein between Landlord and Tenant are independent and not dependent and Tenant hereby expressly waives the benefit of any statute to the contrary and agrees that if Landlord fails to perform its obligations set forth herein, Tenant shall not be entitled to make any repairs or perform any acts hereunder at Landlord's expense or to any setoff of the rent or other amounts owing hereunder against Landlord. If Tenant requests the consent or approval of Landlord to any assignment, sublease or other action by Tenant, Tenant shall pay on demand to Landlord all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred by Landlord in connection therewith. This Lease shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State in which the Building is located.
- 28.2 Landlord and Tenant each hereby expressly, irrevocably, fully and forever releases, waives and relinquishes any and all right to trial by jury and any and all right to receive from the other (or any past, present or future board member, trustee, director, officer, employee, agent, representative, or advisor of the other) punitive and exemplary damages and damages based on injury to or interference with such party's business, including, but not limited to, loss of profits, loss of rents or other revenues, loss of business opportunity, loss of goodwill or loss of use, in each case, however occurring in any claim, demand, action, suit, proceeding or cause of action in which Landlord and Tenant are parties, which in any way (directly or indirectly) arises out of, results from or relates to any of the following, in each case whether now existing or hereafter arising and whether based on contract or tort or any other legal basis: this Lease; any past, present or future act, omission, conduct or activity with respect to this Lease; any transaction, event or occurrence contemplated by this Lease; the performance of any obligation or the exercise of any right under this Lease; the enforcement of this Lease; or Tenant's holding over in the Premises after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. Landlord and Tenant reserve the right to recover actual or compensatory damages, with interest, attorneys' fees, costs and expenses as provided in this Lease, for any breach of this Lease.

28.3 Tenant agrees that the terms of this Lease are confidential and constitute proprietary information of Landlord, and that disclosure of the terms hereof could adversely affect the ability of Landlord to negotiate with other tenants. Tenant hereby agrees that Tenant and its partners, officers, directors, employees, agents, real estate brokers and sales persons and attorneys shall not disclose the terms of this Lease to any other person without Landlord's prior written consent, except to any accountants of Tenant in connection with the preparation of Tenant's financial statements or tax returns, to an assignee of this Lease or sublessee of the Premises, or to an entity or person to whom disclosure is required by applicable law or in connection with any action brought to enforce this Lease.

ARTICLE 29 Authority

29.1 If Tenant is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, trust, association or other entity, Tenant and each person executing this Lease on behalf of Tenant, hereby covenants and warrants that (a) Tenant is duly incorporated or otherwise established or formed and validly existing under the laws of its state of incorporation, establishment or formation, (b) Tenant has and is duly qualified to do business in the state in which the Building is located, (c) Tenant has full corporate, partnership, trust, association or other appropriate power and authority to enter into this Lease and to perform all Tenant's obligations hereunder, and (d) each person (and all of the persons if more than one signs) signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant is duly and validly authorized to do so. Concurrently with signing this Lease, Tenant shall deliver to Landlord a true and correct copy of resolutions duly adopted by the board of directors or other governing body of Tenant, certified by the secretary or assistant secretary of Tenant to be true and correct, unmodified and in full force, which authorize and approve this Lease and authorize each person signing this Lease on behalf of Tenant to do so.

ARTICLE 30 Complete Agreement

30.1 There are no oral agreements between Landlord and Tenant affecting this Lease, and this Lease supersedes and cancels any and all previous negotiations, arrangements, brochures, offers, agreements and understandings, oral or written, if any, between Landlord and Tenant or displayed by Landlord to Tenant with respect to the subject matter of this Lease, the Premises or the Building. There are no representations between Landlord and Tenant or between any real estate broker and Tenant other than those expressly set forth in this Lease and all reliance with respect to any representations is solely upon representations expressly set forth in this Lease. This Lease may not be amended or modified in any respect whatsoever except by an instrument in writing signed by Landlord and Tenant.

Landlord and Tenant also desire to establish certain performance standards for Tenant's academic program, identify conditions under which Landlord may terminate the Lease, and specify certain oversight responsibilities for Landlord's management of the Premises.

- 1. Early Termination. The tenant may terminate the Lease in the event that the applicable charter authorizing entity non-renews or revokes Tenant's Charter notwithstanding Tenant's reasonably diligent and good faith efforts to maintain Tenant's Charter in good standing.
 - 2. School Performance Metrics. In order to ensure that the Premises provide a safe and secure facility option for the highest possible quality of public education for West Contra Costa County children and that Tenant's use of the Premises is consistent with and advances Landlord's charitable objectives, the parties hereby establish nine "Performance Metrics" for Tenant as sets forth in Paragraphs (a) through (i), below. Tenant agrees to incorporate the Performance Metrics into its operational plans and will use its best efforts to meet or exceed each of the Performance Metrics listed below. In the event of a failure to meet any of the Performance Metrics contained in (a) through (c) below, Tenant shall notify Landlord immediately, and Landlord shall have the right to terminate the Lease effective at the end of the school year.¹

At the conclusion of each school year, Landlord will evaluate Tenant's progress in satisfying the remaining Performance Metrics based on information provided by Tenant in the Performance Metrics Report, defined below. If Landlord finds that Tenant has failed to meet one or more of the remaining Performance Metrics, Landlord shall notify Tenant of such determination. Except with respect to a failure to achieve any of Performance Metrics (a) through (c) below, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a reasonable opportunity to furnish Landlord with such additional information as may demonstrate to Landlord's satisfaction that Tenant has made satisfactory progress to substantially align its academic program and operational plans with the Performance Metrics, and has demonstrated satisfactory implementation of adequate corrective measures to achieve all Performance Metrics within a time period to be determined in Landlord's reasonable discretion. Landlord shall consider such additional information in good faith, following which Landlord shall determine in its sole discretion whether to terminate the lease.

In the event Landlord does not choose to exercise its right to terminate the Lease upon any failure to meet a Performance Metric, Tenant will adopt corrective measures to achieve conformance with the Performance Metrics, which corrective measures shall be implemented as soon as possible, but in any event prior to the start of the next school year. Tenant will provide a report to Landlord detailing the corrective measures to be implemented and will provide such periodic reports as Landlord may request to demonstrate progress toward compliance toward the Performance Metrics. In the event that Landlord finds that Tenant has (i) failed to achieve one or more of the Performance Metrics set forth in Paragraphs (d) through (i) or (ii) otherwise has failed to implement corrective measures described in the preceding sentence to Landlord's reasonable satisfaction for a given school year, Landlord may terminate the Lease for the following school year upon at least 30 days written notice. (For example, if the Performance Metrics are not met for the 2021 school year and Tenant fails to implement acceptable corrective measures, Landlord may terminate the lease for the 2022 school year.) Landlord's determination not to exercise its right to terminate the Lease in any circumstance set out in this [Section 3] shall not constitute a waiver or forfeiture of Landlord's right to terminate the Lease in the event of any subsequent failure to meet the same or any other Performance Metric.

- a. <u>Tenant's Charter</u>. Tenant's Charter shall not lapse, be non-renewed or suffer revocation during the Term. Tenant agrees to appeal any decision by the charter authorizer that would cause Tenant's Charter to lapse, be non-renewed, or suffer revocation to the extent allowed by law.
- b. <u>WASC Accreditation</u>. Tenant shall maintain accreditation by the Western Association of Schools and Colleges (WASC) for its school program. Tenant agrees to appeal any decision by WASC that would cause Tenant to lose such accreditation.
- c. <u>Tax and Non-Profit Status</u>. Tenant shall maintain its status as a tax-exempt organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and as a California public school pursuant to Section 202 of the California Revenue and Taxation Code.
- d. <u>Student Population Served</u>. Tenant shall maintain admissions and recruitment policies and procedures designed to attract socio-economically disadvantaged students and historically underserved students. Tenant agrees to use its best efforts to serve a student population that is comprised of a minimum of fifty percent (50%) students who qualify for Free and Reduced-Price Meals.
- e. <u>Community Served</u>. Tenant shall use its best efforts to maintain a student population that is comprised of students with the same racial and ethnic demographic characteristics as the West Contra Costa Unified School District.
- f. <u>High School Graduation Rates</u>. Tenant shall maintain a high school graduation rate of no less than ninety percent (90%).

- of California Office of the President approves as "A-G" Eligible so that at least 90% of students are eligible to matriculate to a California public university. Tenant shall maintain a rigorous and varied set of core, elective, and AP courses.
- h. <u>College-Readiness</u>. Tenant shall design and implement priorities and standards within its academic program so that all students graduate with skills and training meeting "college-readiness" standards (as defined by the California Department of Education) necessary to enroll in four-year college programs.
- i. <u>College Matriculation Rates</u>. At least ninety percent (90%) of students that complete Tenant's academic program are expected to matriculate to post-secondary education institutions.
 - **3. Tenant Reporting**. As a condition of Landlord's support for its academic program, Tenant agrees to perform the following reporting and related obligations
 - a. <u>Audited Financials</u>. Tenant agrees to provide Landlord with a copy of its audited financials annually.
 - b. <u>Annual School Performance Evaluation</u>. No later than December 1 every year, Tenant agrees to submit a written summary of activities highlighting successes, challenges, and adjustments for the new school year.
 - c. <u>Performance Metric Report</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable following the close of every school year, but no later than December 1, Tenant shall provide Landlord with a report (the Performance Metrics Report) in a form reasonably satisfactory to Landlord, which contains all information reasonably required by Landlord to confirm Tenant's compliance and progress with respect to each of the Performance Metrics. Tenant's failure to timely deliver the Performance Metrics Report is grounds for termination by Landlord.
 - d. <u>Board Presentations</u>. Upon request of Landlord, Tenant agrees to send one or more representatives to the next available meeting of the Making Waves Foundation Board of Directors to share updates, data, and analysis on the progress of the program.
 - e. <u>Timely Response</u>. Tenant's Chief Business Officer (or a designee of the CEO) shall respond in a timely fashion to requests for up-to-date financials either on a schedule established by MWF or as needed.
 - f. Notice requirements.
 - i. Tenant shall immediately notify Landlord in writing of any change in, denial or revocation of, or written challenge to, the tax-exempt status, non-private foundation status, or nonprofit corporate status of Tenant by any relevant governmental entity, and shall notify Landlord in writing within 30 days of determining that any such governmental entity may have reasonable cause to institute such a challenge.
 - ii. Within 30 days of Tenant's knowledge that any action, suit, inquiry, proceeding or investigation against or affecting Tenant or the Premises has been threatened or filed, Tenant shall notify the Landlord in writing.
 - iii. Tenant shall notify the Landlord if the Tenant has terminated its CEO, and will consult with the Landlord in good faith regarding any minimum qualifications for a replacement CEO as well as regarding any candidates for the position, provided, that although Landlord shall be entitled to suggest replacements for the position to be considered in good faith by Tenant, for the avoidance of doubt, the ultimate decision shall be made solely by Tenant in its sole discretion.

4. Landlord Oversight. In the Lease, Tenant has agreed to perform routine maintenance and custodial services for the Premises. Without supplanting or limiting Tenant's obligation to keep

the Premises in a clean, safe, orderly and sanitary condition, Landlord agrees to assign appropriate maintenance staff to provide regular oversight and management of the Premises to ensure that all fixtures, surfaces, building systems and equipment are maintained in good working order and free from defects and hazardous conditions. Any maintenance staff person assigned by Landlord who may enter the Premises when students are present shall, prior to entry, register with the front desk at the Premises and maintain on file with Landlord a criminal background investigation required by Education Code Section 45125.1, which shall confirm that the individual has not been convicted of a violent felony listed in Penal Code Section 667.5(c), a serious felony listed in Penal Code Section 1192.7(c), a sex offense listed in Education Code Section 44010, a controlled substance offense listed in Education Code Section 44011, a crime involving moral turpitude (embezzlement, perjury, fraud, etc.), or any offense which may make the individual unsuitable/undesirable to work around students. Landlord shall request and receive subsequent arrest notifications for all such persons from the California Department of Justice to ensure ongoing safety of students. Any persons assigned by Landlord who may have frequent or prolonged contact with students shall have undergone a tuberculosis risk assessment and/or been examined and determined to be free of active tuberculosis. Landlord shall require all such persons to provide Landlord with a certificate of tuberculosis clearance dated within the sixty (60) days prior to initial assignment. Landlord shall maintain current tuberculosis clearances for all such personnel.

5. Tenant's Liability Upon Termination. In the event of termination, Tenant shall have no further obligations under this Lease from and after the date of such termination, except for obligations that accrued prior to the date of such termination.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Lease as of the date first hereinabove written.

TENANT: Making Waves Academy, a California Corporation By:	LANDLORD: Making Waves Foundation, Inc., a California Corporation By:
Name:	Name:
Title:	Title:
Date:	Date:

Exhibit A

